In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSUE VARGAS MORALES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S SUPREME COURT

JUL 28 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G051142 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 13WF3934 The Honorable Christopher Evans, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can excess custody credits be used to reduce or eliminate one-year Proposition 47 parole under Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (d)? ¹

REASON FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Review of this case is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Court of Appeal held that custody credits could be used pursuant to section 2900.5 to reduce parole under section 1170.18, subdivision (d). (Slip opn. at pp. 7-10.) In so doing, the court expressly disagreed with the opinion in *People v. Hickman* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 984, 188 Cal.Rptr.3d 417, where that court reached the opposite conclusion. (Slip opn. at pp. 9-10.) Thus, review of this case is necessary to secure uniformity of decision so that trial courts know whether or not to apply credits to parole under section 1170.18 subdivision (d). This is also an important question of law because in most such cases, whether a defendant is supervised or not turns on whether credits can be applied to the parole period under section 1170.18, subdivision (d).

¹ All future undesignated code references are to the Penal Code.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 22, 2013, appellant was found in possession of a useable quantity of heroin and a syringe used for unlawfully injecting a controlled substance. (CT 17.)

On March 20, 2014, appellant pleaded guilty, as relevant here, to possession of a controlled substance, heroin. (Health & Saf. Code, § 11350, subd. (a).) (CT 1-2, 8; Slip opn. at p. 2.) On April 10, 2014, the trial court imposed a 16-month prison term. (CT 10-11; Slip opn. at p. 2.)

In August 2014, appellant was released from prison into postrelease community supervision (PRCS) for a period of three years. (Slip opn. at p. 2.)

In November 2014, after voters passed Proposition 47, appellant filed a petition for recall of sentence under section 1170.18, subdivision (a), to have his possession of heroin conviction reduced to a misdemeanor. The trial court resentenced appellant to 365 days in jail with time served and ordered him to be placed on parole for one year pursuant to section 1170.18, subdivision (d). (CT 12-13, 24; Slip opn. at p. 2.)

Appellant appealed, contending, among other things, that under section 2900.5, his excess custody credits, known as $Sosa^2$ credits, should be applied against his parole time. (Slip. opn. at pp. 2, 8.) The Court of Appeal agreed, relying on the general rule that excess custody time is credited against the parole period; the language of section 1170.18, subdivision (m), which states that the section is not intended to diminish or abrogate any rights otherwise available; and the absence of any indication that the voters intended to change the law regarding custody credits. (Slip opn. at pp. 8, 10.)

² In re Sosa (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 1002, 1006.

ARGUMENT

Generally, excess custody credits must be applied to shorten the parole period, and if the excess credits exceed the entire parole period, the prisoner is entitled to be discharged unconditionally. (§§ 1170, subd. (a)(3), 2900.5, subds. (a), (c); In re Bush (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 133, 144; In re Ballard (1981) 115 Cal.App.3d 647, 650.) Whether the voters intended for this general rule to apply in Proposition 47 cases is ultimately a question of statutory construction.

The interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by the same rules that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature. (*People v. Park* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 796.) First, the language of the statute is given its ordinary and plain meaning. (*Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 901.) Second, the statutory language is construed in the context of the statute as a whole and within the overall statutory scheme to effectuate the voters' intent. (*Ibid.*)

Where the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for statutory construction or to resort to legislative materials or other outside sources. (Quarterman v. Kefauver (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 1366, 1371.) On the other hand, where the language is ambiguous, a reviewing court will look to "other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet." (Robert L., at p. 900; People v. Floyd (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 187-188 [ballot pamphlet information is valuable aid in construing the intent of voters].) Ultimately, the reviewing court's duty is to interpret and apply the language of the initiative "so as to effectuate the electorate's intent." (Robert L., at p. 900.) The interpretation of a statute is a question of law that is reviewed independently. (People v. Superior Court (Cervantes) (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1007, 1013.)

Section 1170.18, subdivision (d), in relevant part, states:

A person who is resentenced pursuant to subdivision (b)³ shall be given credit for time served and shall be subject to parole for one year following completion of his or her sentence, unless the court, in its discretion, as part of its resentencing order, releases the person from parole.

(Italics added.)

The plain language of section 1170.18, subdivision (d), establishes that a person who is resentenced under this provision is not entitled to have excess custody time credited against the one year term of parole. A person who is resentenced to a misdemeanor under subdivision (b) must be given credit for time served and must serve a one-year parole term if the trial court, in its discretion, decides to impose parole. By using the word "and"

³ Section 1170.18, subdivisions (a) and (b), in relevant part, state:

⁽a) A person currently serving a sentence for a conviction, whether by trial or plea, of a felony or felonies who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under the act that added this section ("this act") had this act been in effect at the time of the offense may petition for a recall of sentence before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction in his or her case to request resentencing in accordance with Sections 11350, 11357, or 11377 of the Health and Safety Code . . . as those sections have been amended or added by this act.

⁽b) Upon receiving a petition under subdivision (a), the court shall determine whether the petitioner satisfies the criteria in subdivision (a). If the petitioner satisfies the criteria in subdivision (a), the petitioner's felony sentence shall be recalled and the petitioner resentenced to a misdemeanor pursuant to Section 11350, 11357, or 11377 of the Health and Safety Code, or Section 459.5, 473, 476a, 490.2, 496, or 666 of the Penal Code, [as] those sections have been amended or added by this act unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the petitioner would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety. . . .

the intent was to require that credits be given for time served and for there to be a one-year parole period. This intent was also shown by using the word "shall" twice, once before the credit for time served and again in regard to the one-year parole period.

In its opinion, however, the Court of Appeal rejected this argument, stating the People did not give due consideration to the phrase "subject to," because the statute only states that a defendant "shall be subject to parole," anot "that the defendant shall *serve* a period of parole." (Slip opn. at p. 8.) While a defendant is only "subject to" parole because the trial court has discretion whether to impose parole, that does not change the fact that "shall" was used twice to indicate that credits would be given for time served and a one year of parole would be imposed if the trial court, in its discretion, decided to impose it. Thus, under the plain language of section 1170.18, subdivision (d), a person is not given credits against the one year of parole. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal in *People v. Hickman* reached the correct result. (See *People v. Hickman, supra*, 188 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 419-420.)

In its contrary ruling that Proposition 47 unambiguously allowed custody credits to be applied to Proposition 47 parole, the Court of Appeal below relied on the general rule that excess custody time is credited against a parole period and on section 1170.18, subdivision (m), which provides, "Nothing in this section is intended to diminish or abrogate any rights or remedies otherwise available to the petitioner or applicant." (Slip opn. at p. 8.) The Court of Appeal noted it was required to "assume that voters had in mind existing law when they enacted Proposition' 47." (Slip. opn. at p. 8, quoting *People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1012.) The court concluded, "[T]here is no clear indication the voters intended to change the law on this front; to the contrary, they expressly retained all 'otherwise available' remedies." (Slip. opn. at p. 8, quoting § 1170.18, subd. (m).)

The Court of Appeal was mistaken as to section 1170.18, subdivision (m). The "otherwise available" language in section 1170.18, subdivision (m), harmonizes with section 1170.18, subdivision (d). While the latter subdivision clearly indicates that custody credits cannot be applied against Proposition 47 parole, the former subdivision simply indicates that the provisions of the statute do not foreclose a defendant from seeking other remedies or rights not addressed by the statute. This interpretation of subdivision (m) is consistent with the caselaw addressing identical language in section 1170.126, subdivision (k), Proposition 36, the Three Strikes Reform Act. For example, in *People v. Brown* (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 1502, the court rejected the argument that the language of section 1170.126, subdivision (k), meant "the Legislature intended to give a trial court the authority to exercise its discretion under section 1385 in · determining whether a defendant is eligible to be resentenced under the Reform Act." (Id. at pp. 1512-1513.) The court noted "the plain and commonsense meaning" of another provision of the statute, section 1170.126, subdivision (e), "precludes a trial court from exercising its discretion in the furtherance of justice under section 1385 when determining whether an inmate has satisfied the three criteria set out in that subdivision." (Id. at p. 1513.) Similarly, in People v. Yearwood (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161, the court held, "Section 1170.126(k) protects prisoners from being forced to choose between filing a petition for a recall of sentence and pursuing other legal remedies to which they might be entitled (e.g., petition for habeas corpus). Section 1170.126(k) does not have any impact in determining if amended sections 667 and 1170.12 operate retroactively." (Id. at p. 178.) Hence, similar to section 1170.126, subdivision (k), section 1170.18, subdivision (m), does not unambiguously allow custody credits to be applied to parole under section 1170.18, subdivision (d), as concluded by the Court of Appeal.

To the extent that section 1170.18 is ambiguous with respect to whether excess custody credits may reduce the one-year parole term, the Voter Information Guide establishes that in voting for Proposition 47, there was no voter intent to decrease, or eliminate, the one-year period of parole by the use of custody credits. Specifically, the Voter Information Guide told voters, "Offenders who are resentenced would be required to be on state parole for one year, unless the judge chooses to remove that requirement." (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), Resentencing of Previously Convicted Offenders, p. 36.) The voters were also told, "[T]he resentencing of individuals currently serving sentences for felonies that are changed to misdemeanors would temporarily increase the state parole population by a couple thousand parolees over a three-year period. The costs associated with this increase in the parole population would temporarily offset a portion of the above prison savings." (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), State Effects of Reduced Penalties, State Prison and Parole, pp. 36-37.)

Hence, in voting for Proposition 47, voters were told that when an offender was placed on parole, it would be for one year; that resentencing under the proposition would lead to a large increase in parolees; and that costs for those parolees would increase. The voters were not told that credits would be used to offset, or eliminate, the mandated one year parole period. There would have been no reason for voters to expect and vote for a large increase in parolees and the costs associated with that increase, if in fact the vast majority of defendants would have their parole period eliminated by the use of custody credits. Thus, in voting for Proposition 47, there was no voter intent to decrease, or eliminate, the one-year period of parole by the use of custody credits.

Furthermore, to interpret section 1170.18, subdivision (d), to require that credits be used against the one-year parole period would all but render the one-year parole language surplusage. Namely, in every case in which a defendant serves even the shortest possible prion term, he or she would be entitled to less (and possibly substantially less) than one year of parole. For example, even if a defendant had only served eight months in prison on a 16-month prison term and was on PRCS, that defendant, so long as he or she did not face a limit on credits, would be entitled to the full 16 months of time based on worktime credits. And even if that defendant is given the full 365 days in jail with time served, the defendant would still have four months of excess credits and thus, only serve eight months on parole, which is counter to the one-year parole period mandated in section 1170.18, subdivision (d). Construction of a statute that renders some words surplusage should be avoided. (*People v. Cardwell* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 876, 882.)

Finally, interpreting section 1170.18, subdivision (d), to require that credits be used against the one-year parole would lead to the absurd result that people who had been sentenced to more time in prison would serve less time, or no time, on parole. Although it is true that by granting a petition for recall of sentence, the defendant would have moved from being a felon to a misdemeanant, the fact that the defendant had more prison time imposed upon them, for example, two years instead of 16 months, typically would mean that defendant was a worse criminal than a person who received 16 months. Such a defendant who received two years and was on PRCS would be entitled to enough actual and worktime credits that even if the court imposed 365 days, this more culpable criminal would not have to serve any of the one-year parole period. That is an absurd result, and an interpretation that would lead to such a result should be avoided. (*People v. Rubalcava* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 322, 328.)

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, respondent respectfully requests this Court grant review in the present case.