IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

JOSUE VARGAS MORALES,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT NO. S228030

APPELLATE COURT NO. G051142

SUPERIOR COURT NO.
13WF3934

SUPREME COURT

FILED

JUL 30 2015

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE Frank A. McGuire Clerk
STATE OF CALIFORNIA COUNTY OF ORANGE

Deputy

Honorable Christopher Evans, Commissioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Christian C. Buckley, SBN 216998 Buckley & Buckley
9921 Carmel Mountain Rd. #355
San Diego, CA 92129
(858) 538-6054
ccbuckley75@gmail.com

By appointment of the Court of Appeal under Appellate Defenders, Inc. Independent Case System

TOPICAL

Other			
Penal Code			
§ 2900.5			
§ 1170, subd. (a)(3)			
Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2345	3		
California Rules of Court	•		
8.500 8.504			
0.504	1		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSUE VARGAS MORALES,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT NO. S228030

APPELLATE COURT NO. G051142

SUPERIOR COURT NO. 13WF3934

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA COUNTY OF ORANGE

Honorable Christopher Evans, Commissioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rules 8.500(a)(2) and 8.504(c)¹, appellant, Josue Morales, respectfully requests that this Court deny review of the published decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three (per Ikola, J.) filed June 26, 2015.

However, if this Court chooses to grant review as requested by the People, appellant requests that this Court also review the first portion of the Court of Appeal's opinion wherein it held that a defendant under Post Release Community Supervision (PRCS) is still serving their original

¹ All further rule and section references are to the California Rules of Court and California Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

felony sentence and are therefore subject to the imposition of parole under section 1170.18, subdivisions (a) and (d).

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

I.

REVIEW IS NOT REQUIRED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY CONCLUDED UNDER ESTABLISHED AUTHORITY THAT BECAUSE SECTION 1170.18 INCLUDES THE IMPOSITION OF PAROLE A PETITIONER MUST BE GIVEN FULL CREDIT FOR HIS PREVIOUSLY SERVED CUSTODY (ACTUAL AND CONDUCT CREDITS).

The law has long been settled that custody credits (actual and conduct) apply to reduce a defendant's period of parole. (*In re Sosa* (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 1002, 1006.) "Where the presentence credits exceed the total state prison term, the excess credits, commonly known as *Sosa* credits are deducted from the defendant's parole period." (*People v. Espinoza* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 635, 638.)

The right to apply excess credits to an inmate's parole term has been recognized to apply to a vast array of situations, including where an inmate has served more time in prison custody than he ultimately was required to serve for the offenses. (See sections 1170, subd. (a)(3) and 2900.5; *In re Lira* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 573, 582 [listing numerous scenarios where pre and post sentence custody and conduct credits must be applied to period of

parole.]; In re Ballard (1981) 115 Cal.App.3d 647, 649.) If the excess credits exceed the entire parole period, the prisoner is entitled to be discharged unconditionally. (§§ 1170, subd. (a)(3), 2900.5, subds. (a), (c); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2345; see In re Carter (1988) 199 Cal.App.3d 271, 273.)

"The enacting body is deemed to be aware of existing laws and judicial constructions in effect at the time legislation is enacted." (People v. Weidert (1985) 39 Cal.3d 836, 844.) If the enactors of a statute do not expressly change the impact of existing law, they are presumed to have intended that it be left as it existed. "The failure of the Legislature to change the law in a particular respect when the subject is generally before it and changes in other respects are made is indicative of an intent to leave the law as it stands in the aspects not amended." (Estate of McDill (1975) 14 Cal.3d 831, 837-38.)

Here, by explicitly stating that the petitioner is to be placed on parole rather than PRCS, without any express limitations, the drafters and enactors of Prop 47 are presumed to have meant parole in its precise legal meaning and function. (*Estate of McDill, supra*, 14 Cal.3d at pp. 837-38.)

Furthermore, section 1170.18 expressly disclaims any intent to change the existing rules and statutes controlling the application of excess credits to parole terms. Section 1170.18, subdivision (m) expressly states

that "Nothing in this section is intended to diminish or abrogate any rights or remedies otherwise available to the petitioner or applicant." This language alone defeats the People's argument because denying credits to Prop 47 petitioners who are placed on parole would be affirmatively abrogating rather than preserving their rights under *Sosa* and sections 2900.5 and 1170, subdivision (a)(3).²

As noted in the Court of Appeal's opinion, on June 17, 2015, Division Six of the Second Appellate District summarily held in *People v. Hickman* (2015, B260928) ___ Cal.App.4th ___ (2015 Cal.App.Lexis 519), that *Sosa* credits do not apply to Prop 47 misdemeanor parole. A petition for review has been filed in *Hickman* (July 22, 2015; S227964).

The Court of Appeal herein accurately refuted the holding of *Hickman* (Opinion pp. 8-10) and appellant asserts that this Court should depublish *Hickman* rather than grant review in that or this matter.

² Contrast section 3451, subdivision (a) which reads "Notwithstanding any other provision of law...all persons released from prison... for a period not exceeding three years...shall...be subject to community supervision...." The phrase, "[n]otwithstanding any other law" is all encompassing and eliminates potential conflicts between alternative sentencing schemes. (See, *Espinoza* at pp. 639-640.) Section 1170.18, subdivision (m) functions exactly opposite by recognizing the continued validity of rights and remedies otherwise available, which would include *Sosa* credits.

ADDITIONAL ISSUE FOR CONSIDERATION IF REVIEW IS GRANTED

I.

HAS A PROP 47 PETITIONER ON POST RELEASE COMMUNITY SUPERVISION (PRCS) "COMPLETED HIS SENTENCE" AS THAT TERM IS USED IN SECTION 1170.18 SUCH THAT HE QUALIFIES FOR RELIEF UNDER SECTION 1170.18, SUBDIVISION (F)?

Prior to reaching the credits issue upon which the People are seeking review, the Court of Appeal considered whether a person on PRCS has completed their sentence for purposes of determining which portion of section 1170.18 applies to their petition. (Opinion pp. 3-7.) The court concluded that PRCS is part of a felony sentence and therefore section 1170.18, subdivision (a) applies to those persons filing a Prop 47 petition while on PRCS. (Opinion pp. 5.)

If the People's request for review is granted, appellant requests that review additionally be granted as to the above portion of opinion. Such review would allow this Court the opportunity to (1) address the contrary holding in *People v. Espinoza* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 635, 638-640, that the period of PRCS under section 3451 is not part of the "sentence" or the "term of imprisonment" (*Ibid*) and (2) expound on this Court's statement in *People v. Nuckles* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 601, 609 that "parole constitutes a distinct phase from the underlying prison sentence....."

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above review should not be granted.

However, if review is granted, appellant requests that the additional issue set forth above also be considered.